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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
SOUTHEASTERN DIVISION

BARRY A.BOYCE,

Mowent(s),

— N —

VS. ) CaseNo. 1:11CV2 JCH

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

N N N N

Responant(s).

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court on Movant Barry Boyce’s Motionto Vacde, Set Aside, or
Corred Sentencepursuant to 28 U.SC. § 2255(“§ 2255Motion,” ECF No. 1), filed on January 10,
2011, andMotionto Supdement Pending 28U.S.C. § 2255Motion Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule
15(c)(1)(B), filed onJuly 11,2013(*Motionto Suppgement,” ECF No. 8). These motionsare fully
briefed and ready for dispostion.

BACKGROUND

On January 15, 2004,Movant Barry Boyce (“Movant” or “Boyce”) was charged in athree-
court indictment: two cournts charged Movant with distribution of cocane base and the third count
charged Movant with distribution of five grams or more of cocanebase, al inviolationof 21U.SC.
8841(a)(1). (Indictment (1:04CR15JCH, ECF No. 1)). Movant wasarragned onFebruary 23,2004,
and entered a pleaof nat guilty. (Minute Entry for Arraignment (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 8)).

OnMarc 18,2004 Movant wascharged in afour-count superseding indictment: two counts
charged Movant with distribution of coca ne base and two courts charged Movant with distribution
of five grams or more of cocane base, al inviolationof 21U.S.C. §841(a)(1). (First Superseding

Indictment (1:04CR15JCH, ECF No. 27)). Court Four of the superseding indictment asoincluded
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a Forfeiture Allegation in which the Govemment souwght to forfeit $3,477.00in United States
currency. (1d.). Movant was arragned on the superseding indictment on Mard 25, 2004, and
entered apleaof nat guilty. (Minute Entry for Arraignment (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 31)).

On May 13,2004,Movant was charged in afour-cournt secondsuperseding indictment: two
courts charged Movant with distribution of cocane base, the third count charged Movant with
distribution of five grams or more of cocane base, and the fourth count charged Movant with
posgsson d five grams a more of cocane base with the intent to dstributeit, al in violation of
21U.S.C.8841(a)(1). (SecmndSuperseding Indictment (1:04CR15JCH, ECF No. 45)). Court Four
of the seand superseding indictment contained the same Forfeiture Allegation as the first
superseding indictment. (1d.). On May 20, 2004, Movant filed a motion to dismissthe second
superseding indictment on Speedy Trial grounds. (Motion to Dismiss(1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No.
50)). Movant was aso arragned on the seoond superseding indictment on May 20, 2004, and
entered apleaof nat guilty. (Minute Entry for Arraignment (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 51)).

On May 21, 2004 United States Magistrate Judge Lewis M. Blanton entered a Report and
Recommendation that recommended denying Movant’s Motion to Dismissindictment on Speedy
Trial grounds. (Report and Recommendation (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 52)). Movant filed
Objedionstothe Report andRecommendationonMay 24,2004. (Defendant’ sObjedionsto Report
and Recommendation of United States Magistrate Judge (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 54)).

On May 24, 2004, Movant pleaded guilty to Count Four of the seand superseding
indictment. (Minute Entry for Change of Plea Heaing (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 56)). A
Presentence Investigation Report (“PSR) was prepared by United States Probation Office.
(Govemment’ s Respong to Movant’ s Sedion 2255Petition (“Respong”), ECF No. 7,p. 4). The

PSRnoted that, based onafinding that Movant wasresponsblefor thedistributionof morethan 1.5



kil ograms of cocane base, Movant’s base offense level was 38. (1d.). The PSRalsonoted that,
pursuant to § 2D1.1(b)(1) of the United States Sentencing Commisson Guideli nes (“Guidelines’),

two levels wereadded becaise Movant posgssed a dangerouswegpon during the offense. (1d.).
Two additional levels wereadded becaise Movant was conddered an organizer, lealer, manager,
or supevisar of the criminal adivity pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3B1.1(c). (Id.). Threelevels were
suldraded for accetance of responsbility pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.a) and (b). (Id.).
Accordingly, thefina offense level was cdculated as 39. (1d.).

The PSRaso cdculated a Criminal History Category for Movant. (1d.). Threecriminal
history points wereassessed for a seven-yearsentence Movant receved for seand-degreeassaullt,
and two additional points wereassessed since Movant committed his current offense lessthan two
yeassfollowing hisrelease from cugody. (I1d.). Thisresuted inaCriminal History Category of IIl.
(ld., p. 5.

Given Movant’ stotal offenselevel of 39andhis Criminal History Category of I, Movant’s
range of imprisorment uncer the Guidelines was 324to 405months. (1d.).

Movant filed his Objedion to the Presentence Report (“Objedion”) on Augug 2, 2004.
(Objedion to Presentence Investigation Report (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 61)). In his Objection,
Movant objeded to the drug quantity amourt, the “ dangerouswegon’ enhancement, andthe“role
in the offense” enhancement. (1d.). Movant contended that the Court was preduded by Blakely v.
Washington, 542U.S. 296(2004), from making factual findings beyondthose admitted by Movant
or foundby ajury to enhancehissentence (Id.). Movant filed Supdemental Objedionstothe PSR
on Augug 16, 2004, and anather Objedion on Augug 20, 2004. (Suppemental Objedionsto

Presentence Investigation Report (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 63), Second Supdemental Objedions



to Presentence Investigation Report (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 64)). These sub®quent Objedions
reiteraed Movant’s argument uncer Blakely. (1d.).

On Augug 23, 2004, this Court condicted a sentencing heaing. (Minute Entry for
Sentencing Procealings (1:04CR15JCH, ECF No. 67)). Afterhearng from both parties, this Court
determined that Blakely preduded it from enhancing Movant’'s sentence for any drug quantity
beyondthat admitted in his pleaagreement, the posgsson of a dangerouswegpon, or Movant’s
statusas aleader or organizer. (Transcript for Sentencing Proceadings (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No.
79,p.11)). This Court alsodetermined Movant’s Criminal History Category was Il as the Court
ruled that it could not make afinding that the offense was committed lessthan two yeass foll owing
Movant’ sreleasefrom cugody. (Id., p.21). The Court determined Movant’ s sentencing range was
51to 63 months,foll owed by four years of supeivised release and a$100spedal assesament. (1d.,
pp. 21, 23-24). The Govemment appeded Movant’s sentence, and the Eighth Circuit Court of
Appeds reversed the sentence and remanded the case to this Court for re-sentencing. (Opinion of
the United States Court of Appeds for the Eighth Circuit (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 91)).

The second sentencing heairng was held on February 27, 2006. (Minute Entry for Re-
sentencing Procealings (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 98)). The Govemment cdled four withessesto
testify to establishMovant’ srelevant conduct andspeafic offensecharaderistics. (1d.). Movant did
not cdl any witnesses. (1d.). The Court sentenced Movant to aterm of imprisomment of 324months,
followed by four yeass of supervised release and a $100 spdal assessment. (Amended Judgment
(1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 99)). Movant appeded his sentence, and the Eighth Circuit vacaed his
sentence (Opinion of the United States Court of Appeds for the Eighth Circuit (1:04CR15 JCH,
ECF No. 127)). The Eighth Circuit informed the Court that, on remand, it may condder any

evidencethat could have been presented at the original sentencing heaing. (1d., p. 3.



Thethird sentencing heairng washeld onAugug 25,2008. (Minute Entry for Re-sentencing
Procealings (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 137)). Movant’stotal offense level was foundto be 37 and
his Criminal History Category was foundto be Il , which resuted in a Guidelines range of 262to
327 monthsimprisorment. (Transcript of Re-Sentencing Heaing (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 145,
pp.66-67)). The Court sentenced Movant to atemm of imprisorment of 262 months, foll owed by
four years of supervised release and a $100spedal assesgment. (Amended Judgment (1:04CR15
JCH, ECF No. 1398)).

Movant appeded his sentencea seamndtime onthe following grounds 1) this Court relied
onunreli abletestimony (spedficdly, thepenuredtestimony of JamesBaker, Rodney Townsend, and
Randall Lewis) in detemmining his offense level; 2) this Court erred by consdering evidenceabout
his criminal history offered for the first time at his 2008 sentencing heaing; 3) this Court gave
inadequate congderaion to the 8 3553a) factors and treated the Guideli nes as mandatory; and 4)
the Govemment violated its obigation to disclose excul patory evidence and knowingly presented
perjured testimony abou his drug deding at his 2006 £ntencing hearng. (Opinion of the United
States Court of Appedsfor the Eighth Circuit (1:04CR15JCH, ECF No. 153)). The Eighth Circuit
affirmed Movant’s conviction and sentence on May 4, 2009. (I1d.). Movant filed motionsfor a
reheaing en banc andfor areheaing by the panel, both of which weredenied. (Orderof the United
States Court of Appedsfor the Eighth Circuit (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 157)). Movant’s request
for cettioran review by the Supreme Court was denied on January 21, 2010. (Letter re: Writ of
Cettiorarn (1:04CR15JCH, ECF No. 160)).

In his § 2255 Mtion, Movant raises the foll owing sx groundsfor relief:

(2) Thereisinsuficient evidenceto suppot Movant’'s sntence;

(2) The Court erred in acoording mandatory weight to the Guidelines;



3) The Govemment failed to disclose favorable evidence and relied on perjured
testimony;

4) Movant’ strial counsl wasineffedive by faili ng to investigate and present witnesses
at Movant’ s sentencing heairng and by faili ng to pursue the isste that Movant was
denied hisright to a speedy trial; and

(5) Movant’ s sentencefor violationsinvolving cocane baseisexcessve, disparde, and
unfair when compared to sentences imposed in cocane powder cases.

(8 2255 Mdion, p. 4.

DISCUSSION

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255, a federd prisorer may seek relief on the ground that “the
sentencewas impo<ed in violation of the Conditution or laws of the United States, or that the court
waswithou jurisdctiontoimpose such sentence, or that the sentencewasin excessof themaximum
authorized by law, or isothemwise suljed to coll aterd attadk.” 28U.S.C. § 2255. Claimsbased on
afederd statuteor rule, ratherthan onaspedfic conditutional guaranteg “can beraised oncoll ateral
review only if the alleged error condituted a ‘fundamental defed which inherently resuts in a
complete miscariiage of judice” Reealv.Farey, 512U.S. 339,354(1994 (quaing Hill v. United
States 368U.S. 424, 477 n.101962)."

The Court mug hdd an evidentiary heaing to congderclamsin a8 2255motion “unless
the motion and files and records of the case conclugvely shaw that the prisorer is entitled to no

relief.” Shaw v. United States 24 F.3d1040,1043(8th Cir. 1994 (citing 28U.S.C. 8§ 2255. Thus,

amovantisentitl ed to an evidentiary heaing* whenthefacsall eged, if true, would entitle[ movant]

toreief.”” Paynev. United States 78 F.3d343,347(8th Cir. 1996 (quaing Wade v. Armontrout,

798F.2d304,306(8th Cir. 1986). The Court may dismissaclam “withou an evidentiary hearng

L“[A]t least wheremeredtatutory violationsareat issie, ‘§ 2255was intended to mirror §
2254in operdive effed.” Reed 512U.S. at 354(quaing Davis v.United States 417U.S. 333,
344(1974).
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if theclam isinadequate onitsfaceor if therecord affirmatively refutesthe factual assertionsupon
whichit is based.” Shaw, 24F.3dat 1043(intemal quadationsand citation amitted).

Asaninitia matter, the Court will grant Movant’s Motionto Supgement. In hisMotionto
Suppdement, Movant requests that he be al owed to “suppgement and clarify...ore of the existing
clamsin [his] 8§ 2255motion.” (Motionto Supdement, p. 1). Spedficdly, Plaintiff clams he
“seek[s] to ‘clanfy’ the ‘core facts” in GroundTwo of his § 2255Motion. (Id., p.5). Thus,the
Court readsMovant’ sMotionto Supdement asonly providing additi onal informationregarding his
claimsin Ground Two of his § 2255 M&on.

l. Grounds1, 2, and 3

In Groundl o his § 2255 Mtion, Movant argues thereis insuficient evidenceto suppat
his sentence, as Baker, Lewis, and Townsend wereall unreliable and not credible witnesss. In
Ground 2, Movant argues the Court erred in ac@rding mandatory weight to the Guidelines. In
Ground 3, Movant argues the Govemment failed to disclose favorable evidence and relied on
perjured testimony. Movant states that all threeof these groundswereraised on hs soond drect
apped.

In Movant’s seoonddired apped, with regardsto Ground1, the Eighth Circuit foundthat
“[w]e canna conclude from this record that the district court erred in basing its finding abou the
guantity and type of drugs that Boyce sdd on the testimony of these witnesses.” (Opinion of the
United States Court of Appeds for the Eighth Circuit (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 153,p. 4)). The
Eighth Circuit alsofoundthat “the district court did not err” in finding “suficient evidence that
fireamswerepresent andinvolved in Boyce’s drug transadions[soas] to suppat a8 2D1.1(b)(1)

enhancement.” (1d.). Finaly, the Eighth Circuit foundthat “[t]herecord amply suppatsthedistrict



court’ sfinding that Boycewas aleader of criminal adivity, andthe two level enhancement was not
erroneous’ (Id., p. 9.

In Movant’s second dired apped, with regardsto Ground2, the Eighth Circuit foundthat
“the district court adequately consdered the § 3553a) factors and did not give the advisay
guidelines excessve weight.” (Id., p. 9.

In Movant’s second dired apped, with regardsto Ground3, the Eighth Circuit foundthat
“the govemment did not violate any discovery obligationsin resped to Boyce’s sentencing..., nor
did it knowingly present false testimony.” (Id., p. 10.

“Claims which wereraised and dedded on dired apped canna be reliti gated on a motion
to vacde pursuant to 28U.S.C. § 2255 Davisv. U.S, 673F.3d849, 852(8th Cir. 2012. Thus,
to the extent that Movant attempts to revive his claims previoudy raised onapped, the Court will
not revisit the dedasion d the Eighth Circuit. Grounds 1, 2and 3will therefre be denied.

. Ground 4

Although Movant’ sclaimsof ineffediveasdstanceof trial counsl werenct raised ondirect
apped, they arenct suljed to procedural default becaise they could nat have been raised ondirect
apped. Anineffedive assstanceof trial counsl clam “isusually not cognizable ondired appeal
‘becaise facts outside the record generdly need to be developed to resdve the clam.” United

Statesv. Jones 121F.3d369,370(8th Cir. 1997 (quaing United Statesv. Hawkins 78 F.3d 348,

351 (8th Cir. 1996). Thus,it iswell-settled that an ineffedive asgstance of counsl claim is not
cognizableondired apped if theissiehasnot been previoudy examined by thetrial court. Seee.q.,

Jones 121F.3dat 370(citing United Statesv. Holy Bear, 624F.2d853,856(8th Cir. 1980); United

Statesv. Willi ams 897F.2d 1430,1434(8th Cir. 1989 (“Ordinarly wedonat condderineffedive

asgstance of counsl arguments in dired appeds...Here however, since the record was fully



developed at apod-trial heaing, wewill congdertheargument.”) ; United Statesv. Long 857F.2d

436,448 (8th Cir. 1988 (Bowman, J., concurring) (“It is both inappropriate and unwise for an
appell ate court to consderonapped isstesthat thetrial court hasnot had an oppatunity to consder
andwith resped to which arecord has not been developed.”). Because this Court did not examine
Movant’ sineffediveassstanceof trial counsl clamsinanytrial or pog-tria proceealing,theclaims
werencot cognizable ondired apped. Therebre, Movant’s ineffedive assiseince of trial counsel
clamsarenat procedurally barred and may be dedded by the Court in this § 2255motion.

In orderto prevaill onan ineffedive asgstanceof counsl claim, Movant mug show that his
attorney’s performance was “deficient” and that the deficient performance was “prejudicial.”

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Couns is “strongly presumed to have

renderad adequate assstance and made all significant dedsionsin the exerdse of reasoreble
professonal judgment.” 1d.at 690. To oercomethis presumption, Movant mug prove that, “in
light of all the circumstances, the identified ads or omissons were outside the wide range of
professonally competent assstance” 1d.

Even if Movant satisfies the performance comporent of the analysis, he is not entitled to
relief unlesshe can prove suficient prgjudice 1d. at 694. To doso,Movant mug provethat “there
isareasorable probability that, but for counsl’ sunprofessonal errors, theresut of the proceading
would have been different.” 1d. A reasoreble probability is*“a probability suficient to undemmine
confidence in the outcome.” Id. The Court is nat required to “addressboth componrents of the
inqury if [Movant] makes an insuficient shaving on ore [comporent].” Id. at 697.

In Ground4 of his§ 2255Motion,Movant argues histrial counsl wasineffedive by faili ng

toinvestigateandpresent withessesat Movant’ s sentencing hearng andby faili ngto pursuetheissue



that Movant was denied hisright to aspeedy trial. The Court will addressead of these contentions
separaely.

A. Failureto Investigate and Present Witnesses

Movant as=its his counsl was ineffedive for faili ng to investigate and present witneses
whowould havetestified in amannersoasto discredit the Govemment’ switnesses. Movant claims
that these potential witnesses, who include Movant’s wife and brother, would have testified that
Bakerand Townsendfalsely testified abou Movant’ s all eged drug adivities. Movant claimsthese
witnesseswould a sohavetestified that they neversaw Movant engagein any drug-related adivities
or assaiate with the Govemment’ s witnesses.

Uponcongderaion,the Court findsthat Movant’ s claimsfail both prongs of the Strickland
test. First, Movant fail sto shaw that hiscounsel’ sperformancewas* deficient” underthefirst prong
of thetestin Strickland. Movant’ scounsl requested acontinuanceof the seandsentencing heaing
on February 27,2006,in orderto cdl “abou 20" witnesss “to chall enge same of the testimony”
presented by the Govemment at the heairng, and coung!’ s request was denied. (Transcript of Re-
sentencing Heaing (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 113,pp.12325)). Movant’s coungl indicated she
was awareof same of these witnhesses before the heaing andthat Movant disclosed otherwitnesses
afterheaing the Govemment’ sevidenceat theheaing. (1d., p.125. Movant’ scoung spedficdly
mentioned Penny Coleman and Ervin Boyceas potential witnesss. (1d., p.131). At Movant’sthird
sentencing heaing on Augug 25, 2008, Movant’s coungl did not present testimony from any
witnesses. (Transcript of Re-sentencing Heaing (1:04CR15 JCH, ECF No. 145, pp. 17-18)).

Movant’ scounsl wasclealty awareof thesewitnessesandmadethestrategic deasionnaot to present

2Acoording to Movant, “[t]hese witnesses include, but arenat limited to, Penny Coleman,
Jadcie Dowsell, Y ameka Robinson,Bemadette Willi ams, Evin Boyce, Brian Visar, and Hic
Dowell.” (8§ 2255 Mdion, p. 9.
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their testimony at Movant’ s third sentencing heaiing. A court will not ssand-guesstrial strategy
nor usethe benefit of hindsght to determinewhat abettercourse of adionmay have been. Willi ams
v.U.S, 452F.3d1009,1014(8th Cir. 2006. Therdore, the Court findsthat counsl’ sdedsionnot
to offer witnesstestimony at Movant' s third sentencing fell within the “wide range of reasoreble
professioral assisance,” Strickland, 466U.S. at 689, andsoMovantfails to demonstatethat histrial
coungl’s performance was deficient.

The Court finds Movant also fails to demondrate that his counsl’s allegedly deficient
performance was prejudicial under the second prong of the test in Strickland. Movant has not
demondrated that the outcome of his sentencing re-heaing would have been different but for his
coungl’sfailure to cdl the witnesses identified by Movant. None of these witnesses would have
offered testimony addressd to the enhancement under U.S.S.G. § 2D1.1(b)(1), which concemed
Movant’ sposgssonof adangerouswegonduring theoffense. Additionally, thetestimony of these
witnessesthat they wereunawareof Movant’ sdrug adiviti es does not contradict the Govemment’s
evidenceaddressed totheenhancement underU.S.S.G. 8 3B1.1(c), which concerned Movant’ sstatus
as an organizer, lealer, manager, or sugervisa of the criminal adivity. Finaly, nore of these
witnesses would have offered testimony addressed to Movant’s Criminal History Category of lI.
Movant’ s sentencewasthe lowest he could recave under the appli cable Guidelinesrange. Movant
therefore sufered no pregudice from his counsl’s aleged error, and his clams of ineffedive
asgstanceof coung for thefail ureto investigate and present witnesses at his re-sentencing will be
denied.

B. Failureto Pursue Speedy Trial Denial

Movant alsoas<etts his counsl was ineffedive for failing to pusue the issie that Movant

was al egedly denied hisright to aspeedy trial. Movant claimsthe charges againg him shoud have
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been dismissed becaise the Govemment did nat timely pursue thetrial of Movant’s case. Movant
adknowledgesthat hiscouns fil ed amotionbased onthedenia of aspealy tria, but Movant argues
“coung did nat pursue the motion throughou the procealings’ and did nat raise the isste on
apped.

Uponcongderaion,the Court findsMovant’ s claimsfail both prongs of the Stricklandtest.
First, Movant fail sto showv coungl’ s performancewas “deficient” under the first prong of the test
in Strickland.® The Speedy Trial Act provides that a defendant charged in an indictment mug face
trial within 70 days of hisinitial court appearance 18 U.S.C. § 3161(c)(1). Movant was charged
intheoriginal indictment onJanuary 15,2004 ,andhewas arragned on February 23,2004. Movant
was charged in thefirst superseding indictment onMard 18,2004,and he was arragned onMarch
25,2004. Movant was charged in the secondsuperseding indictment on May 13,2004,and he was
arragned on May 20,2004 On May 20, 2004,Movant’s coung filed a motion to dismissthe
“pending indictment” on Speedy Triad grounds, and Judge Blanton entered a Report and
Remmmendationthat recommended denying Movant’ smotion. (SeeReport and Recommendation
(2:04CR15JCH, ECF No0.52)). Judge Blantonfoundthat thefirst superseding indictment restarted
the Spedaly Trial clock sincethefirst superseding ind ctment charged Movant withacrimeoccurring
ten monthsto ayearafter the crimes charged in the original indictment. (1d., p. 2. Therebre, the
Spealy Tria clock began again when thefirst superseding indictment wasfiled onMarch 18,2004,

and would have expired on May 28, 2004.

The Strickland test appliesto an ineffedive assstance of counsl claim “whether we are
examining the performance of couns! at thetrial or appellate level.” Eagle v. Linahan 279F.3d
926, 938(11th Cir. 200]). Thus,the two-prong Strickland analysis asoappliesto Movant’s
clam that counsl wasineffedive for faili ng to raise an isste on apped.
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TheCourt agreeswith Judge Blanton' sdetermination. Thus,any all eged fail ure of Movant’s
couns to “purstetheissie” of the all eged Speedy Tria violation,whetheronapped or otherwise,
falls within the “wide range of reasoreble professioral assisance,” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.
Movant therdore fails to demonstate that histrial counsl’ s performance was deficient.

The Court findsthat evenif the Court wereto assumethat Movant' scounsl wasineffedive,
Movant's claim neverthelessfails under the second prong of the Strickland test. Movant cannot
establishareasorable probabilit y that the Speedy Tria chall enge would have succealed if counsel
had samehow continued to pursteit with this Court or ondired apped. Becaise Movant’s Spealy
Trial challenge ladks merit, therecan be no prejudice from Movant’ s coungl’ s fail ure to continue

topursteit. SeeU.S. v. Mattinez, No.8:99CR194,2002WL 737504 at *4 (D. Neb. Apr. 26,2002).

1. Ground 5

In Ground5 of his § 2255Motion, Movant argues his sentenceis excessve, disparae, and
unfair when compared to sentences imposed in cocane powder cases. Movant alsoarguesthat the
Fair Sentencing Act of 2010(“FSA”) changes the 100.1 statutory penalties for cocane base and
cocanepowderto 181, and Movant argues he shoud receve alesser sentencebased onthe change
in the law. Movant adknowledges that hisfirst claim in Ground 5was raised on hs oond drect
apped, and he states that his secondclaim in Ground5 was not raised ondired apped becaise the
FSA was enaded subgquent to his appell ate proceealings.

On May 23,2012, pursuant to Movant’s motion under 18 U.S.C. § 35824¢)(2), Movant’'s
sentence was reduced from 262 to 210 months of imprisorment. (Order Regarding Motion for
SentenceReductionPursuantto 18U.S.C. 8§ 3582¢)(2) (1:04CR15JCH, ECFNo.165)). Therefre,

the Court finds Mowant’s claims in Ground 5aremoct, and Ground 5will be denied.
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CONCLUSION

Accordingly,

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED that Movant’s Motion to Suppgdement Pending 28 U.S.C. §
2255 Mdion Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 15(c)(1)(B) isGRANTED.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that Movant’s Motion to Vacde, Set Aside, or Correct
Sentence(ECFNo.1)isDENIED, andMovant’ sclaimsareDI SM I SSED withpregjudice AnOrder
of Dismissal will accompany this Memorandum and Order.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that becaise Movant cannotmake a subsaéntial shaving of
the denial of a constitutioral right, the Court will notissie a cettificate of appedability. SeeCox

v. Norris, 133F.3d 565, 569 (8th Cir. 1997, celt. denied 525U.S. 834(1998.

Dated this 29h day of Augug, 2013.

/s/Jean C. Hamilton
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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